Supreme Court of New Jersey

Docket No. 089182

IN RE APPEAL OF THE NEW : CIVIL ACTION

JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF :

ENVIRONMENTAL : ON PETITION FOR PROTECTION'S SEPTEMBER 6, : CERTIFICATION FROM

2022, DENIAL OF REQUEST FOR : THE FINAL JUDGMENT ADJUDICATORY HEARING : OF THE SUPERIOR COURT UNDER N.J.A.C. 7:26C-9.10, : OF NEW JERSEY,

DATED MAY 12, 2022, : APPELLATE DIVISION

CONCERNING THE :

DEPARTMENT'S APRIL 20, 2022 : Docket No. A-000511-22 NOTICE OF REMEDIATION IN :

PROGRESS WAIVER : Sat Below: RESCISSION :

HON. MARY GIBBONS WHIPPLE,

P.J.A.D

HON. JESSICA R. MAYER J.A.D HON. CATHERINE I. ENRIGHT

J.A.D.

PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION AND APPENDIX

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

New Jersey's Industrial Site Recovery Act ("ISRA") is a unique environmental statute at risk of destabilization in this case. N.J.S.A. 13:1K-6 *et seq.* ISRA generally requires a wide variety of industrial facilities – from mining, to yarn-spinning and sock milling, to manufacturing of everything from computers to mittens, to movie studios, to those facilities' corporate offices – to conduct investigation and cleanup when the facilities transfer ownership or wind up operations. If not reversed, the Appellate Division's interpretation of ISRA could disrupt how all these kinds of facilities are transferred and remediated, at enormous cost to commerce in New Jersey.

The court below erred by allowing the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection ("NJDEP") to seriously mishandle a statutory waiver under ISRA. NJDEP granted a "Remediation in Progress" ("RIP") waiver to Petitioner Clarios, LLC in 2007, based partly on the preconditions that Clarios had not contaminated the property and that the property was already being cleaned up. The waiver allowed Clarios to close operations on the property shortly after Clarios acquired it, without the need for further compliance with many of ISRA's requirements. Clarios relied on that waiver extensively in entering agreements to pay for the remediation, to transfer the property, and later in litigation involving the site after Clarios' payments were siphoned out.

At the request of a plaintiff in that litigation, in April 2022, NJDEP rescinded the RIP waiver without warning to Clarios, and without an opportunity to supplement NJDEP's record, contest the decision, or even be heard. This was a violation of Clarios' due process rights under the U.S. and New Jersey Constitutions, and if allowed to stand, will signal across the New Jersey regulated community that all ISRA waivers are unreliable. This will threaten the redevelopment of contaminated properties throughout the State.

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED

Clarios' predecessor, Johnson Controls Battery Group Inc. ("JCBGI"), acquired the site at issue, an automotive battery manufacturing facility at 760 Jersey Avenue in New Brunswick, in 2006. The prior owner of the facility had commenced a remediation of the property under ISRA, and had established a trust fund for the estimated remediation costs. Shortly after, in January 2007, Clarios announced its plan to cease operations at the site. These circumstances triggered ISRA for the second time at the site, so Clarios applied to NJDEP for an RIP waiver from certain ISRA requirements on January 8, 2007.

Consistent with the provisions of ISRA governing RIP waivers (N.J. Stat. Ann. ("N.J.S.A.") § 13:1K-11.5 and N.J. Admin. Code § 7:26B-5.4),

¹Clarios, the petitioner here, is the corporate successor to JCBGI, and for simplicity this petition will use the term "Clarios" to refer to both entities; the distinction between them is not relevant here.

NJDEP approved Clarios' RIP waiver application on March 12, 2007. The approval was based on three statutorily-required certifications by Clarios: (1) that a preliminary environmental report had been completed for the site; (2) that there had been no discharge of hazardous substances during Clarios' ownership; and (3) that a remediation funding source had been established in an amount equal to the estimated costs of remediation. *See* 6a.

In August 2011, Clarios conveyed the site to DeNovo New Brunswick, LLC ("DeNovo"). 3a; 6a. In connection with the property conveyance, and in reliance on the protections of the RIP waiver, Clarios paid DeNovo more than \$2.5 million in exchange for commitments by DeNovo that it would indemnify Clarios from any costs associated with the remediation of the property. 6a. DeNovo submitted a "Remediation Certification" to NJDEP and took over a remediation funding source containing \$1,825,000. 3a. At that point, DeNovo had received ownership of the site and more than \$4.3 million in exchange for DeNovo's promises to NJDEP and Clarios. 6a, 9a. Despite this, DeNovo and its former subsidiary (and current site owner), 760 New Brunswick Urban Renewal Limited Liability Company ("Urban Renewal"), ultimately failed to remediate the site, and DeNovo announced its insolvency without applying any of Clarios' money to the remediation. Instead, Urban Renewal sued Clarios to

pay for the remediation again. In order to strengthen that lawsuit, Urban Renewal *privately* asked NJDEP to rescind Clarios' RIP waiver. NJDEP communicated secretly with Urban Renewal on this subject for months, and initially planned to notify Clarios before the rescission.² Finally, NJDEP agreed with Urban Renewal's request, and without any form of advance notice to Clarios, the agency rescinded Clarios' RIP waiver in a letter of April 20, 2022.

On May 12, 2022, Clarios requested an adjudicatory hearing with NJDEP to assess the bases for the rescission and to contest it. On September 6, 2022, NJDEP denied Clarios' request, on the grounds that the rescission of an RIP waiver is not specified as a trigger entitling an adjudicatory hearing under N.J. Admin. Code ("N.J.A.C.") § 7:26C-9-10(a)1-6, and that NJDEP's

_

² The communications included multiple emails, attachments, and telephone conversations. 15a-20a. On February 24, 2022, NJDEP informed counsel to Urban Renewal that NJDEP was "continuing to look into [the status of the remediation and the RIP waiver]... it may be a lengthy process, [and] I am hoping to have some more answers for you in the next few weeks." 18a. On March 21, 2022, NJDEP informed Urban Renewal's counsel that NJDEP was "currently working on a Notice of Intent to Revoke the RIP waiver" and that NJDEP's Bureau of Enforcement & Investigations would "have to work with multiple bureaus to draft" the Notice of Intent to Revoke. 17a-18a. NJDEP offered to keep counsel to Urban Renewal "updated throughout the process" of considering whether to rescind the RIP waiver. *Id.* at 18a. NJDEP did not include Clarios in these communications, nor did NJDEP update Clarios throughout the process of its review. 15a-19a. NJDEP did not send Clarios the Notice of Intent to Revoke the RIP waiver. 17a-18a.

rescission of Clarios' RIP waiver was not a "contested case" under the Administrative Procedure Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 *et seq*. Clarios appealed, and on February 5, 2024, the New Jersey Superior Court Appellate Division affirmed NJDEP's rescission on the grounds that Clarios does not have a legitimate claim to entitlement in the RIP waiver, nor a property interest in the waiver's benefits.³ Clarios now brings this petition for review of the Appellate Division's decision in *In re NJDEP Denial*.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- (1) Whether the Appellate Division erred by holding that an RIP waiver under the ISRA statute does not convey a property interest requiring due process protections under the Constitutions of the United States and the State of New Jersey.
- (2) Whether the Appellate Division erred by affirming NJDEP's decision to deny Clarios' request for a hearing on the rescission of the RIP waiver, thereby granting the agency unlimited discretion to rescind all waivers under ISRA without notice or opportunity for hearing.

³ The case in the Appellate Division was captioned *In Re Appeal Of The New Jersey Department Of Environmental Protection's September 6, 2022 Denial Of Request For Adjudicatory Hearing Under N.J.A.C. 7:26c-9.10, Dated May 12, 2022, Concerning The Department's April 20, 2022 Notice Of Remediation In Progress Waiver Rescission*, App. Div. Dkt. No. A-0511-22 (Feb. 5, 2024) (here, "In re NJDEP Denial").

ERRORS COMPLAINED OF

- (1) The Appellate Division erred by concluding that Clarios does not have a property interest in Clarios' RIP waiver, where site transfer had already occurred but where the protections of the RIP waiver were still in effect.
- (2) The Appellate Division erred by not addressing or affirming Clarios' due process rights, which required notice of NJDEP's rescission of the RIP waiver and some form of hearing.

REASONS TO GRANT CERTIFICATION

This petition should be granted because it meets several of the criteria set forth in N.J. Ct. R. 2:12-4.

First, the appeal presents a question of general public importance that has not been settled by this Court but should be. Specifically, the reliability of statutory waivers under the state's broadly-applicable law governing the remediation of transferred industrial properties is of critical interest to every entity that might transfer such a property and need such a waiver, in a range of commercial activities.⁴ The state is asserting an unfettered right to yank away such waivers at any time without notice or opportunity for hearing, and New

⁴ The full list of industries regulated under ISRA is available in Appendix C of the statute's rules; *see* N.J.A.C. 7:26B; available online at https://dep.nj.gov/wp-content/uploads/rules/rules/njac7_26b.pdf.

Jersey's regulated community deserves this Court's consideration regarding whether the state has such a power.

Second, the Appellate Division's decision in *In re NJDEP Denial* is in direct conflict with the Appellate Division's decision in *Frederick Gumm Chemical Co. v. NJDEP*. In a lengthy and thoroughly-reasoned opinion, the Appellate Division reversed NJDEP's denial of a hearing on an ISRA waiver, holding that the waiver was a property interest and could not be revoked without due process of law. *Id.* at *5 (Pa12). While *Gumm* is unpublished, it has subsequently been cited by both private entities and by NJDEP itself, and it was not expressly abrogated – or addressed at all – in *In re NJDEP Denial*. This creates conflict and ambiguity in New Jersey law that this Court should exercise its supervision to resolve.

Finally, the interests of justice require consideration and reversal. In plain terms, Clarios was sandbagged by NJDEP's surprise, unreviewable waiver rescission – made at the secret request of Clarios' litigation opponent – and this Court should not allow state agencies to treat the due process rights of the regulated community this way.

I. The Appellate Division's decision will destabilize commercial property transactions and undermine ISRA's goal of encouraging the allocation of remedial responsibility.

⁵ 2007 WL 1574304 (Sup. Ct. N.J., App. Div., June 1, 2007).

The Appellate Division's decision is a threat to the entire regulated community in New Jersey. The result renders the protections of an ISRA waiver nearly meaningless; if NJDEP is free to rescind a waiver, without any notice or opportunity for hearing or challenge, then a business in New Jersey cannot wind up or transfer property under the broadly-applicable ISRA law with confidence or reliance. Parties to complicated brownfield transactions – vital to the green purposes underlying ISRA – are left unmoored.

Property buyers and developers commonly rely on RIP waivers in multiparty brownfield redevelopment arrangements. For instance, a prior owner or other responsible party may have agreed to remediate a property under ISRA, and a later owner/developer triggers ISRA with a sale or closure of operations, knowing that the responsible party has agreed to continue the remediation. In that case, an RIP waiver allows the later owner to buy, sell, or close the property without further complications under ISRA. This structure provides an incentive for green property redevelopment.

Under *In re NJDEP Denial*, however, NJDEP can unilaterally upset that arrangement, even – as here – at the secret request of just one party, on a partial and inaccurate record that can then never be developed or corrected. This is not just unfair; it is terrible public policy. The decision means that the party relying on an RIP waiver can never present the full picture to the agency

about why the waiver should stay in place. This substantially raises the risk for New Jersey businesses involved in property redevelopment arrangements, and if responsible developers offset that risk with redundant trust funds and escrow arrangements, it accordingly will raise costs for businesses trying to engage in this type of green transaction; this is wasteful.

Moreover, companies enter complex contractual arrangements to allocate remediation responsibilities; those arrangements are at the heart of returning financially risky contaminated properties to productive use. The RIP waiver is often a key to that arrangement, as demonstrated in Clarios' case. The Appellate Division's decision will dissuade property developers from purchasing properties with any associated ISRA liability if an RIP waiver would be a necessary ingredient to allocating risks.

Finally, if NJDEP may rescind an RIP waiver without notice to the holder, it would encourage primary responsible parties to abandon their remediation responsibilities and undermine prior agreements with investors and developers.⁶

_

⁶ The outcome also encourages NJDEP to act on an incomplete record, if its rescission of an RIP waiver is essentially immune from challenge. Here, a responsible party simply asserted that it could not continue remediating a property, and its former subsidiary secretly asked NJDEP to rescind Clarios' RIP waiver. NJDEP required no proof, admitted that it did not have a complete file, and relied for its information only on a party with an interest in the rescission. This is a recipe for a bad decision, and a framework that encourages

II. The Appellate Division's decision below creates a division of authority within the Appellate Division itself.

The Appellate Division's decision in *In re NJDEP Denial* is in direct conflict with that court's decision in the 2007 *Frederick Gumm Chemical Co*. case, *supra*.

In *In re NJDEP Denial*, the Appellate Division held that an RIP waiver under ISRA is not a protected property interest giving rise to due process protections. In *Frederick Gumm*, by contrast, the same court held that a different waiver under ISRA – a "UST" waiver, for underground storage tanks -is a protected property interest giving rise to due process protections. 2007 WL 1574304, at *5 ("Manifestly, the rescission action taken here is a threat to petitioners' property interests.... It is essential that petitioners be afforded a fair and full opportunity to test the existence and sufficiency of the factual bases undergirding the rescission order. DEP actions to enforce environmental standards are subject to the requirements of procedural due process."). There is no distinction between the RIP waiver and UST waiver under ISRA that would lead to one type of waiver being protected and the other not. The decisions are simply in tension, though *In re NJDEP Denial* does not acknowledge it.⁷

bad regulatory decisions will make the green goals of ISRA more expensive for everyone.

⁷ Although *Gumm* is unpublished, this Court should not ignore the decision, which is as easily accessible to future litigants on Westlaw and Lexis as any other

III. Clarios was treated unjustly by the state of New Jersey and justice requires this Court to step in.

NJDEP denied Clarios fundamental notice and opportunity to be heard on a vital matter, and Clarios was therefore denied the opportunity to build a record that might have been adjudicated by the Appellate Division. This was unjust, and Clarios deserves to be heard now.

While the denial of notice and an opportunity to be heard is, itself, sufficient grounds for reversal, the circumstances here are particularly compelling. Clarios relied on the RIP waiver when ceasing its operations at the site and entering agreements to purchase and sell the site. Those agreements allocated responsibility for the site's remediation among numerous parties, and involved several contractual arrangements and numerous commitments to NJDEP, including the establishment of funding sources for the remediation. *See In re NJDEP Denial* at *2 (Pa4-7) (summarizing history of site's ownership and remediation). Notably, above and beyond an existing remediation trust of \$1.85 million, Clarios paid the

opinion, and which has already been repeatedly cited by litigants in briefs, including by NJDEP itself. *See, e.g., NJDEP v. Monsanto Co., et al.*, No. GLO-L-000800-22 (N.J. Super.); NJDEP brief in opposition to motion to dismiss, 2023 WL 9420346, at *25. Moreover, the Frederick Gumm decision was a reversal of NJDEP administrative action – the decision was more important than a routine affirmance – and its reasoning was explained in detail and at length. It is a notable appellate opinion that squarely contradicts the holding in *In re NJDEP Denial*; this Court should reckon with the split in authority and grant cert in order to harmonize this key aspect of New Jersey environmental law.

site's new owner, DeNovo, more than \$2.5 million to take the site, i.e., providing for a total of more than \$4.3 million for remediation. DeNovo then created and spun off Urban Renewal, and shortly after announced insolvency. The \$2.5 million is now unaccounted for, and the site remains unremediated, raising very serious questions about the motivations and interests of the party that requested that NJDEP rescind Clarios' RIP waiver. Yet it is those questions, among others, that NJDEP refused to hear, instead relying on an ex parte request, invisible and unchallengeable by Clarios. *See* 5a – 12a. This circumstance should offend a court's sense of due process.

COMMENTS ON THE APPELLATE DIVISION DECISION

In one of the most familiar and basic principles of American law, the U.S. and New Jersey Constitutions guarantee due process before the government deprives any person of a property interest. An approved RIP waiver is squarely within the benefits arising under state law that are constitutionally protected property interests, and a balance of Clarios' interests against the administrative burden of due process falls in Clarios' favor. Certification should be granted to address the Appellate Division's erroneous holding that an RIP waiver does not create a constitutionally protected property interest.

I. The Appellate Division erred in holding that Clarios had no property interest in the RIP waiver.

An RIP waiver conveys two benefits in which the holder has a protected property interest: the right to sell or close the establishment without further ISRA compliance, and a suspension of the obligation to comply with ISRA. The Appellate Division appeared to recognize both benefits, but erred in holding that there is no protected property interest in the suspension of ISRA's remediation obligations.

A. The Appellate Division's reasoning is internally contradictory.

The Appellate Division's decision is internally contradictory as to whether Clarios had an interest in the RIP waiver's suspension of further ISRA compliance. For this reason alone, certification of this appeal and reversal are warranted. The decision first asserts that "for as long as the [underlying remediation is ongoing, the RIP waiver recipient's ISRA obligation to remediate its industrial establishment is suspended." *In re NJDEP Denial*, at *1 (Pa4) (emphasis added). Yet the decision later asserts that after Clarios had closed operations at the site, "the RIP waiver does not suspend the need to remediate the industrial establishment." *Id.* at *4 (Pa12) (emphasis added).

B. An RIP waiver suspends the holder's obligations to comply with ISRA.

ISRA's statute and regulations state that the holder of a waiver may sell or close an industrial establishment "without" further compliance with ISRA or pursuit of the remediation. N.J.S.A. § 13:1K-11.5(a).8

ISRA's provision allowing RIP waivers unambiguously suspends those requirements. An owner or operator may apply to close operations or transfer ownership "without" pursuing the actions specified in N.J.S.A. § 13:1K-9(b) or (e) if the site is already in the process of remediation. N.J.S.A. § 13:1K-11.5(a). If the application for an RIP waiver is complete and accurate, NJDEP "shall" authorize the closure or transfer. Importantly, the waiver suspends the need for a remediation agreement or submittal of a remediation certification, which are the mechanisms that NJDEP requires before an owner or operator may defer its ISRA compliance to a point after the closure or transfer of the property. N.J.S.A. § 13:1K-9(e).

NJDEP's regulations governing the issuance of RIP waivers do not vary this structure. Approval of an RIP waiver authorizes the owner or operator to close or transfer the property "without the submittal of a remediation

_

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