SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY

In re Appeal of the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection's September 6, 2022 Denial of Request for Adjudicatory Hearing under N.J.A.C. 7:26C-9.10, Dated May 12, 2022, Concerning the Department's April 20, 2022 Notice of Remediation in Progress Waiver Rescission

Docket No.: 089182

Civil Action

On Petition for Certification from the Opinion of the Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division, in Docket No. A-000511-22

Sat Below:

Hon. Mary Gibbons Whipple, P.J.A.D.

Hon. Jessica R. Mayer, J.A.D. Hon. Catherine I. Enright, J.A.D.

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLATE DIVISION CORRECTLY HELD THAT CLARIOS DID NOT HAVE A PROPERTY RIGHT PROTECTED BY DUE PROCESS IN THE CONTINUED VALIDITY OF THE RIP WAIVER.

The Appellate Division affirmed DEP's Hearing Denial based on well-settled constitutional principles. The court held that due process protections "are

not implicated" by DEP's rescission of the RIP Waiver "if neither a liberty nor a property interest is threatened." Pa8. A person may have a protected property interest in a government-conferred benefit, like a RIP waiver. Pa9. However, such a benefit becomes a constitutionally-protected property interest only if the recipient of the benefit has a "legitimate claim of entitlement" to it. Pa9. A party's "unilateral expectation" of receiving or maintaining a benefit is insufficient. Pa9 (quoting Thomas Makuch, LLC v. Twp. of Jackson, 476 N.J. Super. 169, 185 (App. Div. 2023), certif. denied, 2024 N.J. LEXIS 180 (Mar. 5, 2024)). Rather, the property interest must come from "existing rules and understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law," i.e., "the statutes, regulations, and case law" concerning the benefit. Pa9-Pa10.

After examining the ISRA statute, DEP's implementing regulations regarding RIP waivers, and the RIP Waiver granted to Clarios, the court correctly determined that Clarios did not have a legitimate claim of entitlement to the continued validity of its RIP Waiver.

The court observed that the benefit conferred by a RIP waiver under the statute is the ability of the ISRA-triggering party (<u>i.e.</u>, Clarios) to close operations or transfer ownership "prior to 'obtaining [DEP] approval of a remedial action workplan or a negative declaration or without the approval of a remediation agreement." Pall (citing N.J.S.A. 13:1K-11.5(a)); <u>accord N.J.S.A.</u>

13:1K-11.5(b) (if DEP finds that the prerequisites for a RIP waiver are met and grants the waiver, "the applicant may close operations or transfer ownership or operations..."). The statute is silent as to what DEP may or may not do where, as here, the underlying remediation underpinning the RIP waiver falls out of compliance after the RIP waiver recipient closed or transferred its operations.

DEP's regulations make clear, however, that DEP reserves the right to require the RIP waiver recipient to comply with ISRA and, thus, rescind the RIP Waiver. Under the regulations, receipt of a RIP waiver "may not relieve the owner or operator ... of the obligations to remediate the industrial establishment pursuant to ISRA." N.J.A.C. 7:26B-1.8(b) (cited at Pa11). Indeed, the court below observed that the RIP Waiver itself stated, "By issuing this [RIP Waiver], [DEP] continues to reserve all rights to pursue appropriate enforcement actions allowable under the law for violations of ISRA as associated with this transaction." Pa12; 1a. Under these circumstances, the Appellate Division held that Clarios' reliance "upon the suspension of [its] remediation obligation" was only based on its "unilateral expectation that the prior remediation ... would remain compliant." Pa12. Clarios lacked a legitimate claim of entitlement and so lacked a property interest requiring DEP to grant the Hearing Request.

Clarios' criticisms of the Appellate Division's reasoning miss the mark.

A. The Appellate Division's reasoning is not internally contradictory.

Clarios argues that reversal is warranted because of a claimed contradiction in the Decision. As the argument goes, the Decision at one point states that "the RIP waiver recipient's ISRA obligation to remediate ... is suspended," see Pa4, but the Decision later states, "the RIP waiver does not suspend the need to remediate the industrial establishment," see Pa12. Pet. 13.

It is clear from the context that the later statement ("the RIP waiver does not suspend") refers to the "need" <u>in general</u> for the industrial establishment to be remediated; <u>someone</u> responsible under ISRA must remediate, whether it is the party responsible for the first ISRA case or, failing that, the recipient of the RIP waiver. The court stated later on the same page that Clarios relied "upon the suspension of [its] remediation obligation" based on its understanding that "the prior remediation ... would remain compliant." Pa12. The court plainly acknowledged that a RIP waiver suspends the recipient's ISRA obligation as long as the prior remediation is compliant.

B. The Appellate Division correctly held that an RIP waiver remains effective only so long as the first ISRA case remains in compliance.

In its Petition, Clarios argues for the first time that "ISRA does *not* state that the waiver stays in place only 'so long as' the first ISRA case remains in compliance." Pet. 18 (emphasis in original); <u>accord</u> Pet. 15. The implication is that the Hearing Denial and the Decision are erroneous because the RIP Waiver

could not have been rescinded even if the DeNovo ISRA Case was out of compliance. This argument is procedurally improper and substantively wrong.

Clarios improperly raised this new argument in its Petition. <u>See Zaman v.</u> <u>Felton</u>, 219 N.J. 199, 226 (2014) (claim not raised below "was properly dismissed by the Appellate Division"). Further, even if Clarios had raised this legal argument in its Hearing Request or before the Appellate Division, it would have been inappropriate to hear this purely legal issue in an adjudicatory hearing. "Due process never requires a trial on non-factual issues...." <u>Bally Mfg.</u> <u>Corp. v. N.J. Casino Control Comm'n</u>, 85 N.J. 325, 334 (1981).⁴

Clarios also is wrong that ISRA prevents DEP from rescinding a RIP waiver when the underlying remediation is out of compliance. "In the absence of a legislative restriction, administrative agencies generally have the inherent power to reopen or to modify and rehear prior decisions" subject to "limitations relating to fairness and reasonableness." Application of Trantino, 89 N.J. 347, 364 (1982). Thus, because the statute does not prohibit DEP from rescinding a RIP waiver, DEP has inherent power to reconsider its grant of a RIP waiver. See

⁴ If Clarios wished to raise this legal argument, the proper course would have been to file a notice of appeal from the Rescission Letter itself, rather than from the Hearing Denial, within 45 days of the Hearing Denial. See Musconetcong Watershed Ass'n v. N.J. Dep't of Envtl. Prot., 476 N.J. Super. 465, 479 (App. Div. 2023) (underlying DEP decision became final and appealable when the Department denied adjudicatory hearing request). Clarios failed to do so.

N.J.S.A. 13:1K-11.5. Further, it is well within the bounds of fairness and reasonableness for DEP to rescind a RIP waiver when the underlying remediation is not in compliance, as a statutory prerequisite for the RIP waiver—"the industrial establishment is already in the process of a remediation"—is no longer satisfied. <u>Id.</u> DEP acted within the bounds of its statutory authority when it rescinded the RIP Waiver.

C. The fact that DEP should have a reason for rescinding a RIP waiver—the non-compliance of the underlying remediation case—did not entitle Clarios to an adjudicatory hearing.

Clarios argues that an adjudicatory hearing is required for any rescission of a RIP waiver because DEP cannot arbitrarily rescind a waiver.

But assuming that the RIP waiver can be rescinded when the primary remediation falls out of compliance, that precondition is necessary for the rescission, a point that even the ... [D]ecision seems to concede. So the waiver cannot be suspended without cause, a fact establishing the existence of a property interest.

Pet. 18-19. This argument fails.

The fact that the state must have "cause" for removing a benefit does not always create a constitutionally-protected property right. Where, as here, the benefit is revoked for cause due to the actions of another party over whom the party seeking a hearing has no control, there is no property right and no right to a hearing for that party. O'Bannon v. Town Court Nursing Ctr., 447 U.S. 773 (1980) (nursing home residents who received Medicaid did not have protected

property interest, and thus had no hearing rights, where the government terminated the nursing home's eligibility to participate in Medicaid through no fault of nursing home residents); see also Forrest Hill Cmty. Ass'n v. Pub. Serv. Elec. & Gas Co., Civil Action No. 19-16692 (ES) (MAH), 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 150036, at *32-33 (D.N.J. Aug. 21, 2022) (refusing to find a property interest "simply because local officials do not have unfettered discretion").

Further, Clarios in particular does not have a right to an adjudicatory hearing based on this rationale. That is, even if it is true that DEP must have cause before rescinding a RIP waiver, Clarios never argued that the requisite cause—the non-compliance of the DeNovo ISRA Case—was absent. "An agency must grant a plenary hearing only if material disputed adjudicative facts exist." J.D. ex rel. D.D.H. v. N.J. Div. of Developmental Disabilities, 329 N.J. Super. 516, 525 (App. Div. 2000). Here, the only material fact—whether or not the underlying remediation case is in compliance—is undisputed. See 11a-12a (only disputed facts Clarios identified related to the financial condition of DeNovo, not the status of the remediation). This Court should not intervene where granting Clarios' requested hearing would be futile.

II. CLARIOS HAS NOT MET THE HIGH BAR FOR CERTIFICATION.

Rule 2:12-4 sets out the standard for the Court's discretionary grant of certification in the limited circumstances where:

- "the appeal presents a question of general public importance which has not been but should be settled by the Supreme Court;"
- the question presented is "similar to a question presented on another appeal to the Supreme Court;"
- "the decision under review is in conflict with any other decision of the same or a higher court or calls for an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervision;" or
- "the interest of justice requires."

Certification is not permitted "except for special reasons." <u>Id.</u> The Petition falls well short of this high bar.

A. There is no conflict that the Court must settle between the published decision below and the unpublished **Gumm** decision.

Clarios criticizes the court below for not relying on or distinguishing the unpublished Appellate Division opinion in <u>Frederick Gumm Chemical Co. v.</u> <u>NJDEP</u>, No. A-1056-05, 2007 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 1399 (App. Div. June 1, 2007). Pet. 7, 10. That unpublished decision does not create a split of authority with the published Decision in this matter that this Court must step in to resolve.

The unpublished decision in <u>Gumm</u> does not "constitute precedent" and is not "binding upon any court." <u>R.</u> 1:36-3; <u>accord Trinity Cemetery v. Wall Twp.</u>, 170 N.J. 39, 48 (Verniero, J., concurring) (an unreported decision "cannot reliably be considered part of our common law"). Indeed, the court rules <u>prohibited</u> the Appellate Division from citing <u>Gumm</u> in the decision below. <u>R.</u> 1:36-3 (subject to exceptions not relevant here, "no unpublished opinion shall

be cited by any court"). The fact that the Appellate Division did not cite or distinguish an unpublished opinion cannot be reversible error. The bases that Clarios asserts for according <u>Gumm</u> special weight—the opinion is available on Lexis and Westlaw, it reversed DEP, and it is long—do not overcome the plain language of the Court Rules. Pet. 10-11 n.7.

In addition, Gumm is distinguishable. The court in that case held that the recipient of the revoked ISRA underground storage tank waiver⁵ had a property interest "to the extent their stake in the continuing viability of the sales transaction between FGCC and Canning is concerned." Frederick Gumm Chem. Co., 2007 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 1399, at *12-13. (The ISRA obligation in Gumm arose from a transfer of operations resulting from a stock sale, see id. at *7; that stock sale transaction could have been voided under ISRA, see N.J.S.A. 13:1K-13.) Here, in contrast, Clarios' ISRA trigger was a cessation of operations, which cannot be voided, and the court below specifically observed that "the RIP [W]aiver's rescission ... does not pose any apparent threat to the continued viability of the sales transaction [to DeNovo] from 2011." Pa14. As the Appellate Division below correctly observed, the fact that Clarios may be compelled to spend money as a result of the rescission of the RIP Waiver does

⁵ The decision below applies only to RIP waivers, and it does not address the ISRA underground storage tank waiver that was at issue in <u>Gumm</u>. Pa2.

not create a property interest. Pa9 ("the economic advantage an entity receives from a benefit does not translate to a property interest"). In <u>Gumm</u>, but not here, more than the incurrence of remediation costs was at stake.

B. The negative impacts on real estate transactions that Clarios speculates will result from the decision will not occur; there is no question of general public importance.

The sky will not fall in the real estate market if the Appellate Division's correct Decision stands. Clarios' predictions of doom are fanciful. Pet. 7-9.

The Decision holds that a party who received an RIP waiver is not entitled to an adjudicatory hearing if DEP revokes the waiver because the prior remediation case is out of compliance. Contrary to Clarios' overwrought rhetoric, this result does not render an RIP waiver "nearly meaningless" or preclude "any notice or opportunity for hearing or challenge." Pet. 8; accord Pet. 9 n.6 (the "rescission of an RIP waiver is essentially immune from challenge" following the decision below). Judicial review would be available in the Appellate Division even if there is no adjudicatory hearing right. In re Amico/Tunnel Carwash, 371 N.J. Super. 199, 208 (App. Div. 2004).

A party considering entering into a real estate transaction who is entitled to an RIP waiver likely would not be dissuaded from entering the transaction or motivated to change its behavior in any material way based on the forum in which a potential challenge to a potential future rescission of the RIP waiver would be litigated. Put another way, the future risk that a property seller would perceive when it receives an RIP waiver is the risk that the party conducting the underlying remediation stops performing. That risk existed before the Decision, it will continue to exist after Decision, and it should dwarf in the mind of a rational seller any risk arising from the narrow procedural issue in this case.⁶

Clarios' misguided policy argument also fails to consider that there are two sides in every real estate transaction; Clarios ignores the buyer's perspective. If Clarios prevails, a seller who received an RIP waiver may throw up unnecessary procedural hurdles to delay its inevitable obligation to remediate when the remediation underlying the RIP waiver is no longer in progress, to the detriment of its buyer. It is just as likely that Clarios' position, if adopted, would chill the real estate market because of its discouraging effect on buyers.

Finally, Clarios suggests that, "if NJDEP may rescind an RIP waiver without notice to the holder^[7], it would encourage primarily responsible parties to abandon their remediation responsibilities...." Pet. 9. This hypothetical strategic non-compliance won't happen. If the underlying remediation case arises from ISRA, for example, the party that chooses not to comply would face

⁶ Clarios was aware of this risk and wisely protected itself when, as part of the 2011 transaction with DeNovo, it obtained a \$10 million insurance policy covering claims for remediation of the Site. URa145.

⁷ As demonstrated <u>infra</u> at 18-19, Clarios received ample notice that DEP was considering rescinding the RIP Waiver, so this underlying premise is false.

daily penalties of up to \$25,000 for as long as the non-compliance continues. N.J.A.C. 7:26B-1.11. It is not reasonable to expect that the party responsible for the underlying remediation case who had the wherewithal to comply would risk such significant penalties on the off-chance that DEP eventually might rescind the RIP waiver and seek compliance from the waiver recipient. The parade of horribles that Clarios speculates could arise from the Decision will not materialize; thus, certification should be denied.

C. DEP did not perpetrate an injustice against Clarios requiring extraordinary Supreme Court intervention.

Clarios complains throughout its Petition that DEP treated it unfairly. <u>E.g.</u>, Pet. 11-12. These complaints are irrelevant, misleading, or even false. They certainly do not provide grounds for this Court to intervene.

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